DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA

# INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER THE MIAMI HERALD PUBLISHING COMPANY

RICHARD J. OVELMEN General Counsel The Miami Herald Publishing Company One Herald Plaza Miami, Florida 33101 (305) 350-2204 THOMSON ZEDER BOHRER WERTH ADORNO & RAZOOK PARKER D. THOMSON SANFORD L. BOHRER CHARLES V. SENATORE LAURA BESVINICK 1000 Southeast Bank Building Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 350-1100

Attorneys for Petitioner The Miami Herald Publishing Company

E. L. MENDENHALL, INC., 926 Cherry Street, Kansas City, Mo. 64106, (816) 421-3030

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action to review the affirmance by a divided panel of the Third District Court of Appeal of a judgment entered on a \$30,000 jury verdict in a libel suit against Petitioner The Miami Herald Publishing Company (the "Herald") in favor of Respondent Robert R. Frank ("Frank"). Miami Herald Publishing Co. v. Frank, 442 So.2d 982 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983). After the Third District denied the Herald's Motion for Rehearing En Banc, Rehearing and Request for Certification of Questions of Great Public Importance, the Herald sought discretionary review in this Court. This Court accepted jurisdiction on July 12, 1984,<sup>1</sup> pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution and Rules 9.030 (a)(2)(A)(iv) and 9.120 of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure.

This is the first libel suit involving a news report of "real public or general concern" tried to a jury under the simple negligence test adopted by the Third District in *Miami Herald Publishing Co. v. Ane*, 423 So.2d 376 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983), which is now pending in this Court. *Miami Herald Publishing Co. v. Ane*, Case No. 63,114 (Fla. argued January 10, 1984).

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

#### The Tropic Article From Which This Suit Arises

On May 21, 1978, the *Herald* published an article entitled "The Saga of David and Ethyl" by Michael Putney

<sup>1.</sup> Citations to the Record on Appeal are designated "R"; citations to the transcript of the trial are designated "Tr."; and citations to the parties' trial exhibits are designated "Pltf. Ex." and "Def. Ex.". The *Tropic* article, Pltf. Ex. 1, is reproduced in the Appendix ("App.").

in Tropic, its Sunday magazine (the "Article") (App. 1) (Tr. 141-43; Pltf. Ex. 1). The Article concerns the 1969 bankruptcy of Pac Craft, a company owned by smallbusinessman David Balter, after an attempt to "reorganize" it under Chapter 11 of the bankruptcy laws; its subsequent takeover by Ethyl, a Fortunate 500 company, after the reorganization failed; and the resulting Dade County Circuit Court litigation. This lengthy story (about 4,000 words) related Balter's struggle to retain control of Pac Craft and reported the million dollar jury verdict Balter won in his circuit court action against Ethyl, John Scussel, and Paul Wolf (the "Balter trial"). The Article makes only brief references to Frank as the lawyer Balter hired to handle the reorganization of Pac Craft, including preparation of the documents necessary to obtain the funds for the plan of reorganization.

The Article reported that during the mid-1960's Pac Craft had been a very profitable "converter" of polyethylene film, which purchased almost all of its film from Ethyl. When, in 1967, Balter sought a \$450,000 loan for his business and needed a guarantee, he approached Ethyl, which readily agreed. Shortly after Ethyl guaranteed the loan in exchange for the right to take over Balter's business in the event Balter defaulted, Ethyl began to ship defective film to Pac Craft. Pac Craft's business began to suffer, but Balter received no cooperation from Ethyl. Ethyl would not replace the defective film, give credits, or permit Balter to purchase film elsewhere. In addition, Ethyl threatened to decline to renew the loan guarantee.

Faced with the loss of the business he built, Balter took the only step remaining to him—he hired bankruptcy lawyer Robert Frank and filed for Chapter 11 in bankruptcy court. Out of the Chapter 11 proceedings arose a plan of arrangement, written by Frank, through which

Balter would retain control of his business, and his creditors, including Ethyl, would accept a payment plan.

As reported in the Article, under the plan of arrangement, Balter was permitted to retain control of Pac Craft if he could raise \$213,000 to be deposited with the bankruptcy court's "monitor", David Hughes, by a certain date (originally, August 4, 1969, but later extended to August 6). Under the plan of arrangement, Wolf and Scussel were to contribute a total of \$170,000-\$100,000 of which was in the form of a check never deposited-and Balter was to raise the remaining \$43,000. Balter arranged with a bank for a \$43,000 loan, but Frank did not prepare a court order authorizing the loan (the "loan document") until shortly before the August 6 deadline for depositing the money. When Balter presented the proper loan document, it didn't have the clerk's seal (which the bank had advised Frank was required for the loan), the bank refused to fund the loan, and Balter missed the August 6 deadline. When Balter missed that deadline, the bankruptcy judge returned Wolf's check and, after missing two more deadlines, Balter eventually lost Pac Craft. Finally, the Article relates how Balter successfully sued Ethyl, Scussel and Wolf—receiving a million dollar jury verdict—for illegally interfering with Balter's plan of arrangement and unlawfully taking control of Pac Craft from him.

Although the Article mentions Frank only in passing, it reports he failed to prepare the loan documents in time for Balter to meet the August 6 deadline, failed to obtain the court seal required by the bank as a condition for funding the loan, and was later joined by Balter with the other Ethyl defendants and charged with malpractice. The Article also reports - *twice* - that the jury found Frank not guilty of malpractice and makes clear Frank was not involved with Ethyl, Scussel, and Wolf.

#### The Preparation Of The Article

The preparation of the Article involved the participation of an experienced journalist specializing in feature writing, several editors, as well as a lawyer specializing in conducting pre-publication libel review. The author of the Article, Michael Putney, had seven years of journalism experience prior to joining the *Herald* as a *Tropic* writer. He was a veteran of the national press, having been a writer for *Time*, and a reporter and bureau chief for the National Observer and National Weekly (Tr. 368-70).

Putney first became interested in writing the Balter story when he read a news report of the Balter trial verdict published by the *Herald* in April, 1978 (Tr. 386). The original story did not mention Frank, and Putney had not previously met or heard of Frank (Tr. 216, 245, 387). As the story went through various drafts, Putney added the reference to Frank in the context of reporting the mechanics of Ethyl's takeover attempt. The discussion of Frank related solely to his activities as Balter's lawyer in the public judicial proceedings in which Frank was to help Balter retain control of Pac Craft (Pltf. Ex. 1).

Putney spent four or five weeks researching and preparing the Article for publication (Tr. 245). He reviewed an enormous amount of material from the eight-year Balter proceedings, including the Amended Complaint, the opening statements of counsel for all parties (including Frank) in the 1978 Balter trial, copies of the "daily" trial transcripts, Balter's trial and deposition testimony, the depositions of Frank given in 1970 (only months after the events reported in the Article) and 1978, the depositions of Wolf and Scussel, the depositions of bankruptcy court monitor David Hughes in 1970 and 1972, bank officer William Boyd's 1970 deposition, some 190 trial exhibits, the jury

charges and various portions of the bankruptcy file (Tr. 392-97). In all, Putney reviewed hundreds of pages of "daily" trial testimony and thousands of pages of deposition testimony (Tr. 255-61).

Putney interviewed or tried to interview all the principals discussed in the Article. Thus, he interviewed Balter, Balter's attorney, Wolf's attorney, Scussel's attorney, Ethyl's attorney and Ethyl's general counsel (Tr. 271). He unsuccessfully attempted to reach Wolf and Scussel themselves (See Pltf. Ex. 1). As the basis for his few references to Frank, Putney relied on six instances of Frank's own testimony and statements as an officer of the court in judicial proceedings-including Frank's 1970 and 1978 deposition transcripts, his sworn statements filed in support of his application for attorneys' fees based upon work on the Pac Craft reorganization plan, his testimony at the hearing on his attorneys' fees application, and his other statements as an attorney in the bankruptcy court proceedings (Tr. 403-04). Putney also relied on testimony by others, such as bank officer Boyd and court monitor Hughes. Putney did not choose, in addition, to interview Frank, because it was clear from all the documents that Frank claimed full knowledge of the loan and its terms while he represented Balter and disclaimed knowledge or memory of the event after Balter sued him for malpractice (Def. Ex. X, Tr. 192-93).

### The Herald's Editorial And Legal Review Of The Article

Under the editorial hierarchy of *Tropic*, Putney, a staff writer, was supervised by Steve Petranck and Lary Bloom, *Tropic's* editors, who in turn reported to *Herald* Assistant Managing Editor Janet Chusmir, who was ultimately responsible to John McMullan, Executive Editor of the *Herald* (Tr. 370-71). After Putney completed a draft of the Article, it was reviewed in detail by his editors, Bloom and Petranek (Tr. 405). The role of each editor was to read the Article several times. The Article was read initially by each editor for general sense, completeness and accuracy. Each editor then read it again, line-by-line, word-by word for specific content, particularly to insure that the statements made in the Article were true and accurate (Tr. 375-76; 1276-78). In addition, the editors met with Putney periodically to monitor his progress and deal with any problems that might have arisen (Tr. 1276). Finally, the Article was reviewed by Janet Chusmir (Tr. 1300).

Because of the complexity of the factual situation described in the Article, the Herald's general counsel, James Spaniolo, reviewed a draft of the Article to determine whether it contained any defamatory material (Tr. 407-08). Spaniolo questioned Putney as to his sources of information regarding each of the defendants in the Balter trial, including Frank (Tr. 409). Spaniolo recalled asking particularly about Frank and remembered receiving a satisfactory explanation of the references to Frank (Tr. 556-58, 584-85). Because Putney had reviewed Frank's prior sworn testimony and statements as an officer of the court, which provided the factual support for the matters related in the Article, Spaniolo concluded it was not necessary for Putney to interview Frank before the Article could be published (Tr. 557-58). Spaniolo explained that he reviewed 200-300 articles for possible libel problems each year and that he treated each article as an individual case to be reviewed with great care (Tr. 577-80).

### Frank's Claims

Frank sued the *Herald* on June 30, 1978, alleging that each of four statements appearing in the Article were

false and defamed him. Frank later announced that he "abandoned" his claims as to two of the statements (Third District Ans. Br. 4). The statements upon which Frank bases his claims briefly discuss his role as the lawyer hired by Balter to preserve Balter's interest in Pac Craft. They report (i) Frank's failure to prepare the loan document (an order authorizing the loan to Pac Craft for signature by the bankruptcy judge) in time for Balter to fund his reorganization plan by the close of business on August 6, 1969 and (ii) Frank's failure to obtain the clerk of the court's seal certifying the authenticity of the loan document as required by the bank:

Balter missed the [August 6] deadline because his attorney, Frank, failed to draw up the necessary loan document before the close of the business day. Frank also failed to get the clerk of the court's seal on it so that when Balter finally arrived at the Manufacturers National Bank of Hialeah on the evening of Aug. 6, a bank officer who had verbally agreed to loan Balter as much as \$50,000 refused to go through with the deal. By the time Balter had obtained the clerk's seal the next day, Wolf had retrieved his \$100,000 check and the bank refused again to make the loan.

The bankruptcy referee extended the deadline for Balter to meet the terms of his plan of arrangement but monitor Hughes changed the locks at the Pac Craft plant and refused to let Balter and prospective investors in.

. . .

When Balter's final deadline passed, Wolf submitted his own plan of arrangement, and Wolf took over Pac Craft.

(Pltf. Ex. 1). Out of the entire sixty-paragraph Article, only two sentences in the fifty-first paragraph which

# 7

discuss Frank's role in Balter's loss of Pac Craft were alleged to be libelous. Both of the challenged statements relate to the events of August 4, 5 and 6, 1969, and Balter's failure to deposit with the bankruptcy court the \$43,000 he needed to keep control of Pac Craft. Putney's Article reports those events, based on the court documents, including Frank's statements and testimony, from the Chapter 11 proceeding and the Balter trial.

Frank contends the underscored statements were false because they "clearly" blamed him for the failure of the plan of arrangement (Third District Ans. Br. 5). Specifically, Frank asserted the first of the statements was false because the loan document referred to in the Article was timely prepared because it was filed in the bankruptcy court before the close of business on August 6, although with insufficient time for Balter to meet the 5:00 p.m. deadline (Third District Ans. Br. 6). He also asserted, that, despite any failure of Frank to timely prepare the loan document, the bank would never have loaned Balter the money on August 6, because it only approved the loan on August 6 and had "placed impossible conditions on it" (Third District Ans. Br. 7). Regarding the second statement, Frank states it was false because of both the "impossible conditions" and the "fact" that the bankruptcy court (as opposed to the federal district court of which it is part) had no "seal" per se<sup>2</sup> (Third District Ans. Br. 7).

<sup>2.</sup> At trial, Jack Britton, a bankruptcy attorney called by Frank, explained that at the time of the Pac Craft reorganization, the bankruptcy court was a part of the federal district court in Miami. It accordingly would not have its own seal, but would use the federal district court's seal (Tr. 193). Also, while Frank has claimed that the court had no "seal" to be gotten, his bankruptcy expert at the Balter trial. Louis Phillips, testified in this case not only that a seal did exist, but that he had obtained it for documents "many, many times" (Tr. 366).

Frank also claimed below that the *Herald* was negligent in failing to interview him, despite Putney's review of Frank's then recent 1978 testimony as a malpractice defendant which fully discussed Frank's positions. Frank also contended that the *Herald* committed various "negligent" acts or omissions, which included failing to interview judges and failing to interview bankruptcy experts. See Section IB, infra.

# What The Evidence Adduced At Trial Demonstrated Putney Could Have Known About The Events Of August 4, 5 And 6, 1969

In accordance with the reorganization plan, Balter had to deposit the money necessary to fund the plan, including his \$43,000 portion, with the ccurt-appointed monitor, Hughes, by August 4, 1969 (Tr. 774-76). When money sufficient to fund the plan was not deposited by the deadline, the bankruptcy judge called an emergency hearing on August 5 to determine what should be done (Tr. 777-80; Pltf. Ex. 16; Def. Ex. HH).

At the August 5 emergency hearing, Frank acknowledged his client's failure to meet the August 4 deadline, but asked for an extension, representing that he and Balter had arranged a loan to cover Balter's portion of the funding of the plan (Tr. 778-90). The judge agreed to extend Balter's funding deadline the following day, August 6, and directed Frank to prepare the order authorizing the loan and the necessary loan documents by the close of business on August 5:

THE COURT: I want this order signed today and I want the money in tomorrow.

[MR. FRANK]: Okay, sir.

(Tr. 977).

Frank did not submit to the bankruptcy judge the order and loan documents by the end of August 5 as ordered (Tr. 983; Pltf. Ex. 4). With respect to the negotiations with the bank, Frank's sworn attorneys' fees application (filed in bankruptcy court) represents that he spent 2-1/2 hours on "8/5/69" providing services he described as "Conference-Bank-David Hughes-Dave Balter" (Def. Ex. CC). The transcript of Frank's 1969 testimony during his attorneys' fees hearing shows Frank testified that he had obtained the loan commitment and had spoken with Boyd (the bank officer in charge of the loan) and court monitor Hughes regarding the loan (Def. Ex. DD at 18-19). The brief filed by Frank in support of his appeal of the fee award stated the "negotiations with the bank that eventually provided the excess margin of capital to fund the final plan were carried on solely by your Petitioner, and his efforts alone secured the loan" (Def. Ex. X at 7) (emphasis added).<sup>3</sup>

The bankruptcy court was to have signed the order on August 5 authorizing the bank's loan to Balter and the money to be borrowed with the loan document was to be deposited in the bankruptcy court by the end of the day on August 6 (Tr. 977). As set forth in bank officer Boyd's uncontradicted deposition testimony (reviewed by Putney), to accomplish the funding, the bank required the judge's order authorizing the loan to have a court seal confirming its authenticity (Def. Ex. BB).

<sup>3.</sup> Frank's representation to the court in his brief was, of course, false, since the loan he purportedly "secured" never materialized. Frank changed his testimony entirely in a 1978 deposition, when he was a malpractice defendant and no longer seeking fees. Despite his sworn representations in open court in 1969, Frank testified that he did not know what documents the bank required and that he had no legal duty to find out (Def. Ex. LL at pp. 230-34). He also testified that he did not speak with bank officer Boyd until after the bank rejected the loan (*Id.* at 236).

The bank intended to make the loan as expected if it received this "sealed" loan document on August 6 (Def. Ex. BB).

Frank has always admitted the order/loan document was not submitted until August 6, although the record available to Putney shows he was directed by the judge to submit it on August 5 (Pltf. Ex. 4; Tr. 983). According to his testimony during the Balter trial, Frank's best recollection of when he gave copies of the documents to Balter was that it was some time prior to 5:00 p.m. on August 6, probably by 4:30 p.m. (Bal. Tr. 2898-99, 2919). Thus, even had the seal been on the documents, Balter would have had the impossible task of, beginning at 4:30 p.m., travelling from Miami Beach to the bank in Hialeah, processing the loan, obtaining the funds, and then travelling to wherever bankruptcy court monitor David Hughes was to deposit the funds with him by 5:00 p.m.

Frank's sworn fee application submitted to the bankruptcy court shows he spent five hours on "8/6/69" described "Conferenceproviding services he as Bank-David Hughes-Dave Balter" (Def. Ex. CC). Bank officer Boyd swore at his deposition that Frank knew of the bank's requirements to fund the loan (Tr. 1042-48; Def. Ex. BB). These terms were communicated to Frank as Frank himself confirmed at Boyd's deposition (Def. Ex. BB), and of course he claimed throughout that the loan was secured through "his efforts alone" (Def. Ex. X). Despite the bank's stated requirement for certified copies of the documents, the copies of the loan documents Frank gave Balter for submission to the bank had no court seal (Def. Ex. BB at 15). Had the required seal appeared on the documents, Boyd's uncontradicted testimony confirms that the bank would have loaned Balter. the \$43,000 he needed for the plan of arrangement on August 6 (Def. Ex. BB at 18-19).

According to the 1970 and 1972 deposition testimony of court monitor Hughes, Frank called Hughes on August 6 and informed him that he could not get the money to Hughes that day because his photocopier had broken down (Def. Ex. F at 20). Frank, during his 1970 deposition, testified that he had called Hughes on August 6 and "told him that the money would not be out there by 5:00 p.m. on August 6" (Tr. 985-86). During the entire bankruptcy proceedings, and during the nine years the Balter suit was pending, Frank never contradicted Hughes' testimony.<sup>4</sup>

### The Proceedings Below Relating To The Balter Verdict And Jurors

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