IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 64,904

THE MIAMI HERALD PUBLISHING COMPANY, a division of Knight-Ridder Newspapers, Inc., Petitioner,

vs.

ROBERT R. FRANK, Respondent.

Discretionary Review of a Decision of the Third District Court of Appeal of Florida

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ROBERT R. FRANK

Floyd, Pearson, Richman, Greer, Weil, Zack & Brumbaugh, P.A. Bertha Claire Lee 25th Floor One Biscayne Tower Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-0241

Attorneys for Respondent Robert R. Frank

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

The query then becomes how far does an appellate court have to go to prove that it has "independently" reviewed the record to satisfy itself and a higher court that the record contains sufficient evidence to establish the "constitutional facts" necessary to find liability with the requisite certainty. Is an appellate court's finding that the record contains "substantial" and "ample" evidence to support a jury's verdict of falsity and fault (negligence) inconsistent with an "independent" review? Are the two mutually exclusive?

There can be no doubt that in all cases of libel involving the necessity to prove "actual malice" before any recovery can be made, a plaintiff must prove falsity and "actual malice" by "clear and convincing" evidence. New York Times v. Sullivan, 376 U.S. at 279-280. However, careful research reveals no rule setting forth the degree of proof necessary to establish "negligence" in a libel case.

It is also clear that in cases requiring proof of actual malice, the appellate court must make an independent review of the record to insure that it contains sufficient evidence to satisfy the drastic degree of proof of "convincing clarity" necessary to establish actual malice in order to ascertain that the "judgment does not constitute a forbidden intrusion on the field of free expression."

Bose Corp. v. Consumers Union of U.S., Inc., 104 S.Ct. 1949 at 1958 (1984).

¹⁹In <u>Time, Inc. v. Pape</u>, 401 U.S. 279 at 284 (1971), the United States Supreme Court labelled its "definition of 'actual malice' a 'constitutional rule'." Bose, supra at 1964.

Be that as it may, the Herald supplies no authority for its position that the same stringent requirements as to the degree of review ("de novo"?) necessary to satisfy the actual malice "constitutional rule" applies to cases where liability for the defamation is founded on simple negligence. (PB. 29-31). The Herald bottoms its argument that the instant case required the highest standard of appellate review because the degree of fault is immaterial (PB. 24) if "constitutional facts" are involved and in support thereof cites a melange of pre-Gertz and pre-Firestone First Amendment cases involving "obscenity", "clear and present danger" and "breach of the peace." (PB. 30). In the cited cases dealing with the quite different issue of defamation, "actual malice" was the crux of the decisions. E.g., Bose, New York Times, Pape, etc. (PB. 31, f.n. 7) Not a single case involves the degree of proof or of appellate review applicable to the negligence standard of "fault" in a libel case.

Indeed, the United States Supreme Court in <u>Bose</u>, <u>supra</u>, <u>carefully</u> footnoted at 104 S.Ct. 1967:

Indeed, it is not actually necessary to review the "entire" record to fulfill the function of independent appellate review on the actual malice question; rather, only those portions of the record which relate to the actual malice question; rather, only those portions of the record which related to the actual malice determination must independently be assessed. The independent review function is not equivalent to a "de novo" review of the ultimate judgment itself, in which a reviewing court makes an original appraisal of all the evidence to decide whether or not it believes that judgment should be entered for plaintiff. If the reviewing Court determines that actual malice has been established with convincing clarity, the judgment of the trial court may only be reversed on the ground of some other error of law or clearly erroneous finding of fact. Although the Court of Appeals stated that it must perform a de novo review, it is plain that the Court of Appeals did not overturn any factual

finding to which Rule 52(a) would be applicable, but instead engaged in an independent assessment only of the evidence germane to the actual malice determination.

However, in <u>Time</u>, <u>Inc. v. Firestone</u>, 424 U.S. 458 at 461 the United States Supreme Court, reviewing this Court's opinion <u>Firestone v. Time</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 305 So.2d 172 (1974), relied heavily on its then fairly recent Gertz opinion and stated:

The failure to submit the question of fault to the jury does not of itself establish noncompliance with the constitutional requirements established in Gertz, however. Nothing in the Constitution requires that assessment of fault in a civil case tried in a state court be made by a jury, nor is there any prohibition against such a finding being made in the first instance by an appellate, rather than a trial, court. The First and Fourteenth Amendments do not impose upon the States any limitations as to how, within their own judicial systems, factfinding tasks shall be allocated. If we were satisfied that one of the Florida courts which considered this case had supportably ascertained petitioner was at fault, we would be required to affirm the judgment below.

After noting that there was nothing in the record that indicated that either the jury or the trial judge found evidence of "fault" (negligence), the Court continued:

Nothing in that decision or in the First or Fourteenth Amendment requires that in a libel action an appellate court treat in detail by written opinion all contentions of the parties, and if the jury or trial judge had found fault in fact, we would be quite willing to read the quoted passage as affirming that conclusion. But without some finding of fault by the judge or jury in the Circuit Court, we would have to attribute to the Supreme Court of Florida from the quoted language not merely an intention to affirm the finding of the lower court, but an intention to find such a fact in the first instance.

* * * *

But in the absence of a finding in some element of the state court system that there was fault, we are not inclined to canvass the record to make such a determination in the first instance.

Thus, it appears that <u>Firestone</u> makes clear that the Third District adequately performed its appellate function when it expressly concluded: "Our review of the record reveals the presence of substantial competent evidence from which the jury could have concluded that the statements pertaining to Frank were false and that their publication established the requisite degree of negligence on the part of the Herald". 442 So.2d at 983, App.2. Admittedly the Third District paid deference to the jury verdict but it did not stop there. The Herald's statements, repeated numerous times, that the Third District "expressly refused", "explicitly declined" to independently review the record are patently false. The Third District Court expressly stated that it conducted a "review of the record" and it must be presumed that an appellate court means what it says. Moreover, on the basis of its review of the record, the Third District Court of Appeal specifically rejected the Herald's assertions that the complained of statements are "substantially true":

The Herald also asserts that the statements are substantially true and are therefore not libelous

even if partially inaccurate. It maintains that because it announced the verdict in Frank's favor, it was not subject to liability for the offending statements. We disagree. Ane.

(442 So.2d at 984, App. p.2)

This Court now has before it the entire record below. We submit that another "independent review" will clearly establish that the evidence in that record is "sufficient to cross the constitutional threshold that bars the entry of any judgment that is not supported by" substantial competent evidence of fault. [Paraphrasing Bose at 104 S.Ct. at 1965]. The stale, slanted article based on a deliberately incomplete examination of court records received more than adequate constitutional protection by the courts below. It is that type of careless, angled, twisted reporting that should be stringently inhibited if private individuals are not to be subjected to unwarranted and needless injury to satisfy a newspaper's "right" to publish defamatory statements that "are no essential part of any exposition of ideas, and are of such slight social value as a step to truth that any benefit that may be derived from them is clearly outweighed by the social interest in order and morality." Gertz citing Chaplinsky v. New Hampshire, 315 U.S. 568, 572 at 418 U.S. 341.

III. THERE WAS NO REVERSIBLE ERROR IN THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS OR EVIDENTIARY RULINGS. 20

A. The Balter Verdict

At the very outset of the trial the Herald requested that the following instruction be read to the jury (R. 782-797; T. 26):

 $^{^{20}}$ The Herald frames its Point III (PB. 39):

III. The Trial Court Improperly Permitted The Jury To Infer That The Statements Were False From The General Malpractice Verdict In Frank's Favor

The parties agree that David Balter sued Plaintiff Robert R. Frank for legal malpractice. The parties also agree that the jury in Balter's suit returned a verdict finding Mr. Frank "not guilty" of legal malpractice. So that there will be no confusion, this is to advise you the jury verdict for Mr. Frank against Mr. Balter does not mean the statements in the article on which this suit is based are false. Moreover, the article reported both the malpractice charge and the verdict.

We vehemently objected on the basis that such an instruction was improper since it constituted a comment on the evidence and makes it appear that the parties agreed that the Balter verdict played no part in the case when, in fact, Putney referred to the "not guilty" Balter verdict several times in the article itself. (T. 26-29, 54-57). After lengthy argument and over our objection (T. 57), and after opening statements, ²¹ the Court gave this modified version of the Herald's requested jury instruction:

It is undisputed that in a former case a Mr. David Balter sued Robert R. Frank, the Plaintiff in this case, for legal malpractice.

In that case, the jury returned a verdict finding Mr. Frank not guilty of legal malpractice.

You are advised that such a verdict in and of itself does not mean that the statements in the article on which this case is based are necessarily false. However, you may consider the verdict, in that case, along with the other evidence in this case in arriving at your verdict in this case.

I will give you further jury instructions after all of the testimony is in by both parties.

²¹The Herald notes that we referred to the Balter verdict seven times during opening but neglects to state that the Herald mentioned it nine times (T. 108, 112(2), 118, 119(2), 120, 123, 124). Cf. PB. 41, fn 9.

The Herald did not object to that charge. 22 (T. 1-125).

Frank maintained throughout the trial that the import of the Balter verdict was that its very existence was a "warning bell", a "red flag," that the statements Putney claimed were true, were in fact, highly contested matters but that Putney callously and deliberately ignored the caveat. (E.g., T. 82, 85, 90, 309) Frank urged that disregard of that clarion warning that Frank was actually not the cause of the Bank's failure to lend Balter the money was classic "journalistic negligence." Time, Inc. v. Firestone, supra. The principal relevancy of the verdict was as to the issue of fault — not to prove falsity. Frank does not now, and never did at the trial or the appellate level, contend that the Balter verdict should have been conclusive or binding on the issue of falsity in this case. The Herald's argument to the contrary is unfair. (PB. 41)

Taking refuge in Judge Jorgenson's dissent below, the Herald now appears to assert that the Balter verdict should not even have been before the jury for any purpose. Indeed, the Herald's argument as to the import of the Balter verdict is difficult to follow since (1) the Balter verdict was twice referred to in the article itself; (2) it was introduced into evidence without objection by either party; (3) the Herald made the unusual request that the jury be instructed about the verdict before the examination of any witness began and (4) the Herald did not object to the charge.

 $^{^{22}}$ As a matter of fact, after the charge had been read to the jury, counsel for the Herald stated (T. 130):

The difference there is the difference we have been arguing about since the beginning of the case. And that is what the not guilty verdict means. I believe the Court agrees with us and gave an instruction somewhat geared toward that position.

The best answer to the Herald's arguments addressed to the manner in which the Balter verdict became a part of this trial below is the Third District's answer to Judge Jorgenson's dissent:

There is little support in the record for the position espoused by the dissent: (1) the prior malpractice verdict was admitted into evidence during the trial without objection by either of the parties; (2) the Miami Herald requested the court to instruct the jury that the prior verdict "does not mean that the statements in the article upon which this suit is based are false." The court refused to give this instruction and in its place charged the jury with the more neutral instruction that the Balter verdict did not necessarily mean that the statements were false and that they might consider the verdict along with all the other evidence in the case; (3) although the record reflects that the Miami Herald preserved its objection to the jury charge concerning the verdict in the malpractice case, that instruction, even if somewhat unclear, did not rise to the level of reversible error when considered in the context of "all the other instructions given, and the pleadings and evidence in the case." Yacker v. Teitch, 330 So.2d 828, 830 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976).

442 So.2d 984, fn. App.2

Significantly, this reply of the appellate court to Judge Jorgenson's dissent are proof positive of the "independent" review of the record made by the Third District. See Point II, p. 34, supra.

B. Testimony of the Balter Jurors.

The Herald sought to present testimony of the jurors from the Balter case to support its position that the statements in the article were true. Although no proper proffer of the testimony was ever made at trial, before the trial the Herald asserted that the jurors would testify that although they thought

Frank failed to do what was required of him, the case against him "fell through the cracks" and that is why he was found not guilty.

The Florida Evidence Code, Fla. Stat. § 90.607(2)(a) provides:

Upon inquiry into the validity of a verdict or indictment, a juror is not competent to testify as to any matter which essentially inheres in the verdict or indictment.

The Herald's attempt to call the jurors is an obvious inquiry into the validity of the verdict. The Herald wanted to put the jurors on to testify that they found Frank not guilty even though they thought he had done the things of which he was accused. That is, the Herald wanted to impeach the verdict by inquiring into matters which inhere in the verdict.

The Herald argues that they were simply attempting to "explain" their verdict. But Florida cases have long held that jurors may explain their verdict to uphold it but not to impeach or avoid it. McAllister Hotel, Inc. v. Porte, 123 So.2d 339, 344 (Fla. 1960); State v. Ramirez, 73 So.2d 218, 220 (Fla. 1954); Linsley v. State, 101 So. 273, 275 (Fla. 1924). The only time juror testimony is admissible to avoid a verdict is when the testimony relates to overt acts which might have affected the deliberations. But inquiry as that sought here, into matters concerning thought processes, intentions or emotions of jurors is prohibited. McAllister Hotel, supra; Fla. Stat. \$ 90.607(2)(b).

Furthermore, jurors' testimony would not be probative of any issue in the case. They have no independent knowledge of Frank's acts or the effect of those acts on Balter's company so they are not competent to testify regarding the truth of the statements. Putney did not contact the jurors before writing the article, so their testimony would not be probative of whether the article was negligently published.

Since under the Evidence Code and the case law the jurors' testimony would be inadmissible and since in any event it would not have been probative of any issue in the case, the trial court was correct in excluding it. Moreover, since no proffer of the testimony was made at trial, the Third District properly affirmed on this issue. Stager v. Florida East Coast Rwy. Co., 163 So.2d 16 (Fla. 3d DCA 1964).

Nevertheless, through the backdoor methods detailed <u>supra</u> at pages 16-18, the testimony of one juror was admitted. So if the courts did err on this point - and Frank maintains steadfastly that it did not — the error was harmless because the evidence got in anyway.

Even Judge Jorgenson in his lengthy dissent made clear that the testimony of the Balter jurors was inadmissible. 442 So.2d 982 at 984, fn. 1, App. p. 3. There was no reversible error in the jury instructions or the evidentiary rulings.

CONCLUSION

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